

Doctoral School of Sociology and Social Policy

## **Collection of Theses**

## Julianna Faludi

**Innovation Patterns In The Design-Driven Industries:** 

**Opening Up The Made In Italy** 

Doctoral Dissertation

**Supervisor:** 

Dr. Zoltán Szántó Ph.D.

## **Institute For Sociology and Social Policy**

## **COLLECTION OF THESES**

## Julianna Faludi

**Innovation Patterns In The Design-Driven Industries:** 

**Opening Up The Made In Italy** 

Doctoral Dissertation

**Supervisor:** 

Dr. Zoltán Szántó Ph.D.

© Julianna Faludi

# Table of Contents

Background	
Problem and Relevance of the Research	
Innovation as Adaptive Behavior and Evolution of Technology	
Modularity Scholarship and Innovation	
Methodology	6
The Toolkit	
Limitations, Obstacles and Opportunities	
The Contribution of This Research	
Main Empirical Findings	11
Adding to theory	
Implications of this research on how we understand:	
Openness	13
Innovation Scholarship	
Organizational Theory	
References	14
Own Publications on Innovation	23

## **Background**

I enter allegedly different fields, the production of tangible and intangible products. What combines the two is my approach of deconstructing the semantics and production of these artifacts and bringing it forward to a common platform of organizational behavior demonstrated in innovation patterns. I hope my straight line of argumentation in the realm of modularity/ production/ innovation theory persuades the Reader of the soundness of the findings presented, despite the swirls and roundabouts of discussion with which I explicitly intend to deepen our understanding of the fields discussed. I am not less eager to challenge, and at some points even entertain by adding dimensions to flat writing. I invite the Reader to jump into this book drawing on their scholarly experience, however opening the eye, senses and adding their imagination as the objects of discussion come from a magical field: the entourage of objects and services designed to serve, beautify or ease our everyday needs.

I also open doors for further discussion, which I intend to explore in-depth in further essays illustrating them with abundant examples, however in this current book I am streamlining the argumentation to lead the Reader through a lean architecture.

The theoretic framing relies on scholarship of three main strands of institutional economics and organizational science:

- innovation [with a special focus on open innovation]
- theory of the firm [organizational behavior]
- modularity

In addition to this skeleton of main three theoretic inputs I draw on further fields to complement the understanding of the notions this study deals with:

- design-driven industries
- technology and management

My approach lies in and is inspired by evolutionary economics framing the above-listed main strands this study relies on. This implies that economic dynamics allow for seeing industry dynamics from a timely perspective; that agents interact in a process of evolution, they learn by accumulating knowledge, and strive for survival by adapting to and being adopted by the environment, moreover they struggle with uncertainty, have a bounded rationality, and do not go for an abstract optimal-solution in decision-making [Alchian 1950, Alchian and Demsetz 1972, Penrose 1952, Schumpeter 1934, Schumpeter 1950, Nelson and Winter 1982, etc].

In the chapters of the book I illustrate, dissect, abstract and suggest a frame where the real focus is not the agents themselves but the dynamics of innovation, where core concepts evolve, processes open up, visual or dramatic elements interact with production forms, and platforms create ecosystems, and finally, where innovation flows across players, contexts and disciplines.

#### What is This Book Not About?

I do not refer to any other discourses outside the scope of this book, explicitly for the sake of a lean structure and argumentation as I stressed above. Hence, I demonstrate the power of the above theories backed by empirical findings, while leading the reader along a path full of adventurous challenges, not losing sight of the clearly defined direction at the same time. That said, I am explicitly not working with sociology or anthropology of arts, social behavior, theories of class, any scholarship related to social behavior as I rely on behavior of economic agents, neither I rely on neoclassic understandings of supply-demand, growth, or strategic behavior.

If one searches for the grand theories or the arguments of brilliant and classic scholars in these realms, hardly will find any of them in this book, due to the above exposed reasons. However I do indicate the legacies of theories from where the theoretic frame and argumentation of my work derives from closely.

## Problem and Relevance of the Research

Objects are created, but how to construct them to be valued? Design is a set of rules on how an artifact shall be made [Baldwin and Clark 2000], but where do these rules come from, and how are they defined to be feasible to produce?

A craftsman creates with his tools inspired by surrounding objects, needs and visual elements. If designing and producing for the masses, one needs to take into account economies of scale and available resources. But where does knowledge on what is valued by the users come from? How to bring in line the tapped and perceived needs, production possibilities and adjust the boundaries of the firm? How do different cooperation forms emerge, and what is exactly what scholarship refers to as openness? How can constant innovation prevail at the same time? In search for answers to these pertaining problems I needed theories that explain innovation from broad toward the close up, here I give a brief overview.

#### Innovation as Adaptive Behavior and Evolution of Technology

Economic change, specifically how economic players adapt to the uncertainty of the environment, and how the fittest are being adopted by the environment has been long theorized and researched. New industries emerge crowding out old ones, where some

branches survive through mutation as they change their organizational form of production, or develop new products/ services. *Creative destruction* [Schumpeter 1934] replaces the old with new firms and industries. Innovation as a result of trial and error in adaptation strategy fosters the economy.

Organizations follow a conscious adaptive behavior, where choices of firms on survival strategy differ bringing variability within the population, and enhancing the fitness of the industry as a consequence. In sum, creating new forms and carrying out new combinations lies at the heart of innovation driving the economy [Schumpeter 1934, Penrose 1952, Cohen and Levinthal 1989].

Scrutinizing firms from a close up, and looking for genes, Nelson and Winter define innovation as *change in routine of the organization* [1982, p. 128], where considerable *diversity of behavior* is assumed. Alongside the conservative firms in the economy, for-runners are adapting to the constantly changing environmental setting. Those who deconstruct the existing patterns, and learn through trial and error take a considerable risk [Alchian 1950]. This investigation entails to highlight open and participative forms of the innovative process that stretch organizational boundaries and modifies routines.

Organizational routine is a pattern of actions carried out by a set of actors within the organization [Nelson and Winter 1982]. These various actors share complementarities in behavior, which are reflected in the organizational routines (in other words linked behavior), and enhance capabilities. Routines themselves show complementarities, and the different actions internal and external to the organization are interdependent. We know, that an intelligent collective action emerges based on reciprocal interdependencies where the individual actors' behavior is not optimal [Levinthal 2000]. An effective adaptive system is 'able to link individual behaviors into larger assemblies of action' where hierarchy and authority create subassemblies of action [Levinthal 2000, p. 365]. Changing routines can raise the capabilities of a firm by shifting the boundaries of knowledge, thus meeting the challenge of innovation [Henderson and Clark 1990]. Companies [in the sector of knowledge-intensive business services: KIBS, see later] for example delivering innovation and design as a service, foster this change of routines within the firm.

The capability theories of the firm investigate organizational routines, capabilities, and competencies to explain inter-firm comparative differences [Fujimoto 2000, p. 246]. These knowledge-based theories of the firm introduce dynamics, but still lack the capacity to grab the constantly shaping formations overarching firms. Here we leap toward more dynamic frames capturing the fluidity of industries, and innovation dynamics with the theory of modularity.

The perspective of technological change and evolution of industries has been present in literature for long [Schumpeter 1934, Schumpeter 1950, Nelson and Winter 1982], where technology management [Henderson and Clark 1990] interplays with innovation and industry evolution [Malerba 2005].

## Modularity Scholarship and Innovation

Scholarship on modularity has extensively covered the problems of modular systems of production, the trade-off between modularity and integrality, challenges of protecting intellectual property rights related to modularized open systems, as well as how and when do organizations mirror the modularization of production (the mirroring hypothesis) [Langlois and Robertson 1992, Sanchez and Mahoney 1996, Colfer and Baldwin 2010], in addition the connection between the modularization of industry structure, and product architecture [Parnas 1972, Simon 1962, Baldwin and Clark 2000, Ulrich 1995, Sanchez and Mahoney 1996].

Moreover, industries are not what they used to be, we saw a shift toward de-verticalization of production for example in electronics and computer industries [Langlois 2007, Baldwin and Clark 2000]. There is a paradigm shift in what we understand where innovation comes from as might be the user [Von Hippel 1976, 1988] or a community of innovators despite the classical theorizing about the producer's role [Baldwin and Von Hippel 2011]. Furthermore, through modularization and free revealing [along with encapsulation] platforms can organize industries [Gawer ed. 2009]. We also know that enterprises produce brands rather than goods, as the production of goods is organized through supply networks or outsourced as a pattern [Klein 2000] in the US. Outsourcing is related to the increasing needs for specialized knowledge in design, manufacturing and production, that reshapes the coordination of knowledge of the enterprises, and questions again the boundaries of the firm as well as the traditional way of approaching them from transaction costs analysis, suggesting to see an organization as a network of firms cooperating in design, manufacturing, and marketing [Brusoni, Prencipe, Pavitt 2001].

The main problem this research tackles within the connection between modularity and innovation is how openness and modularity create entry points for innovation. My analysis focuses on the artifact designed both on a semantic level and from the production side. Studies on the history of design do use the notions of *modular*, *mass produced* and the role of the designer or coordination process of design and production [Mañá 1973, de Fusco 1993, Koening 1981, Bersano ed. 2009, Aurichio 2012, Casciani 2014]. There is also scholarship on collaboration of firms [Pisano, Verganti 2008, Dell'Era Verganti 2010], on the emergent form of self-production or open design and innovation [Bianchini, Maffei 2013, Maffei], making and co-design [CoDesign: International Journal of CoCreation in Design and the Arts].

The gap here I address is the systemized approach of understanding innovation and design openness [the problems of free revealing, permeability of the firm, property rights and boundaries of the firm] from the perspective of modularity. I chose the field of design-driven industries of Made in Italy, as it was not scrutinized from this view. My examples come from the classics of design, as well as today's production, with a special focus on furniture (arredamento), and with an open eye on other fields: some examples come from architecture, or everyday objects. I also draw on the different shades of innovation openness from the perspectives of permeability of the firm toward the outcome of innovation as a public good. I rely on different forms of production, that of the established enterprises ranging to self-production.

## Methodology

Innovation scholarship measures innovation through technological, qualitative change, and change in organizational routines and capabilities. Despite the vast literature on measuring innovation activity in different sectors of production, creative industries challenge scholars in this respect, due to the symbolic value to be measured.

My methodology used in this book is based on a previous study conducted in the field of performing arts in Budapest, Hungary. Despite the valuable results of that work, finally I decided not to include them here due to various reasons, but first of all to keep one track.

My approach thus relies on a combination of tools: direct observation, unstructured conversations, and constant reading at the first phase, which is followed by a more target-oriented data collection based on primary and secondary literature, and semi-structured interviews. After mapping a series of cases, I narrowed my attention to some of them, which are included in this book. The cases to be included and analyzed were chosen according to how they fit the line of argumentation. Some cases were selected after running the interviews, and some cases did not fit this book due to various reasons, but mostly due to streamlining the architecture of the discussion. Specifically, I was looking for cases illustrating and at the same time stretching the empirical findings presented in related scholarship. I focused on examples of collaboration, open innovation, as well as I intended to highlight different colors: from makers to established companies of production. The chosen case studies illustrate a phenomenon analyzed and to reveal a process [Siggelkow 2007], so they suited for exploring organizational and managerial processes.

We also know that case study is a

"research strategy which focuses on understanding the dynamics present within single settings" [Eisenhardt 1989, p. 534].

Moreover, we know, that atypical cases offer opportunity to learn [Stake 2003, p. 152]. As already said, I rather focused on grabbing various cases than searching for the general.

As this research focused on "how" and "why" questions, and the focus was on a 'contemporary phenomenon within some real-life context', the cases presented are *explanatory* ones as striving to look behind the "hows" [backed by *exploratory* and *descriptive* approach [Yin 2003, p. 1]].

#### The Toolkit

I interviewed designers, scholars in the field, managers, curators and creative directors representing companies and venues in Milan, Italy. I relaxed the semi-structured interviews adjusting to the experience of the interviewees and their willingness to talk about the projects, or activities.

To kick off an interview is suggested with "a question, which the interviewee can answer easily and without potential embarrassment or distress", while another approach relies on the tradition of "request for factual or descriptive information can be useful opening questions" [King 1994, p. 21]. In this realm and due to time constraints of the respondents, carving out their time from their busy schedules, were asked to provide with their own understanding and definition of design.

As my case studies were different, and I was interested in their specific details and context, there were no identical interviews neither in respect of the set of question, nor how the interviewees approached their answers. Noting, that a good case study investigator shall "ask good questions" and be "a good listener" and "adaptive and flexible" at the same time to interpret and not to be trapped by own preconceptions [Yin 2003, p. 59]. The questions themselves were unfolding adapted to the flow of conversation, of course always keeping in mind the structure that I elaborated previously. The discussion itself in many cases continued after stopping the recorder, sometimes important information laid there: not recorded. In these cases I jotted down my observations in a diary afterwards. As the interviews were taken in Italy I preferred running them in Italian. This served several purposes: to relax the respondents from the constraint of answering in a non-native language, and most important to allow for the toolkit of definitions and notions specific for Italian design as it is used in the discourse on design in Italy [see forthcoming in the next Chapter].

The toolkit developed in this analysis is based on different sorts of qualitative traditions. In its stance aimed at understanding, exploring, 'the world' through not just observation and interpretation it can be connected to the 'interpretivism' tradition of qualitative social research. Weber 'proposed two types of understanding: direct observational understanding,

and explanatory or motivational understanding" [Ritchie, Lewis 2010, p. 7]. This research pulls the benefits of both types of understandings: the participative observation, and conducting the semi-structured interviews provided means of a holistic understanding of the field, its actors, their environment. Content analysis of the texts provided floor for conceptualization and introducing theory in the deconstruction and then in the process of building up the mechanisms, and causal relations. I relied on the text of interviews as a substantial source for theory building extending the adapted theoretical frames [of innovation literature, modularity theory, and theory of the firm]. At the same time I relied on the reconstruction of the cases/ projects mostly based on the information provided by the companies, and the field, where problems of data validation emerged, that I will reflect upon in the forthcoming columns. The case study of Valcucine was based on a field visit to Pordenone, Italy. I used 27 interviews all in all with art directors, academics, journalists, designers and managers. Many times these roles overlap as one might work in several functions during his/ her career.

I used data triangulation to explore the case, and to add validity [Arksey and Knight 1999, pp. 21-31] for including secondary data collected from the websites of the companies at stake and from the materials provided by the companies themselves. An important constraint of the research was time and money for heading for a more profound or broad interrogation. Another constraint stems from the structure of this book. As I was willing to picture a colorful map of design in Italy, a more profound and focused analysis of a specific type of company, or practice in production is not investigated on a large series of data. It is also connected to the fact that I was explicitly aiming at exploring, mapping, understanding rather than testing a specific set of hypotheses. I consider this research an explorative, qualitative one, twisted with a clear-cut analysis based on the theoretic frames exposed at the beginning. I spend some words on relevant methodological questions in each related chapter.

## Limitations, Obstacles and Opportunities

There were further obstacles to this research. First of all, contacts for interviews had to be collected on spot, in the showrooms, as in several cases websites do not give direct access to communication managers, who are usually responsible for handling interview requests. The path within the hierarchy of these companies goes through the responsible for communication/ PR of the company. Even if I explicitly mentioned that I would love to have access to several layers within the production and design departments, those are arranged by the communication department. This was mainly true for the furniture/ lights/ etc. companies. In the case of KIBS the situation was easier, as contacts are available on the website, where one almost directly gets to the level responsible for design [researchers, art directors]. I

contacted my interviewees through email, presenting the project and requesting an interview with a possible site visit. Responses in many cases were scarce, and it took several further emails, reminders, in some cases telephone calls, to humbly draw attention to the request. In many cases the companies were not available for an interview and asked me to send the questions in written. As this research was aiming to explore and mine out information beyond what can be obtained through a questionnaire with diverse cases, these I decided to eliminate from this scope of research, and get back to them in a further one [possibly with questionnaires]. In other cases it took some months to get an appointment [after several reminders in email and in person at the showroom in Milan]. Companies did not make it possible to access their financial data, reports, documentation. However they were very available for providing me with their booklets, and catalogues, that are handled over to their business partners, or journalists. Within the framework of this research, thus, there was no opportunity to go beyond these information by spending a considerable amount of time on site talking to designers, and digging documentation. Some of the companies have their museums [museo d'impresa: enterprise museum] telling the [innovation] story with objects exhibited and guided tours. Some of them maintain a library collecting considerable documentation on design [for e.g. Alessi] available on appointment. Campari for e.g. provides with the innovation story of its communication strategy and branding [as the liquor itself has not changed]. Museums provide opportunities for events for outside companies: reception, conference, etc [Campari in Milan, or Cimballi or Kartell in the outskirts of Milan], which generates revenue, and adds to the branding strategy. Guided tours are on appointment and In contrast, for e.g. Alfa Romeo, or Versace [to bring an example from free of charge. fashion] collects and entrance fee, and Alfa Romeo provides guided tour for a considerable fee. In the case of Alfa Romeo, the museum itself follows a different path than the above examples: the exhibition is curated to give an 'experience', to provide the service of entertainment to the visitors [with a 5D movie trailer at the end], while Versace does not bother for constructing a narrative of evolution/ change, rather focuses on presenting its selected clothes. Others present their stories on their curated websites [like in the case of Valcucine or others in furniture design]. Companies contribute to the construction and documentation of the history of design [documentation center at Alessi, or the finely curated exhibition on the history of coffee-makers of Cimballi, presenting several brands and producers, providing with a broad overview of the sector]. The innovation stories of these companies analyzed here are thus constructed relying on the narrative provided by the company itself. There are also available books on the story of kitchen design, fashion etc. that are sold on the book market and backed/ or in some cases published by the companies themselves. These editions, exhibitions, museums, events, etc. are the bricks of the

constructed story of design and innovation, produced by the companies themselves. Following a rather critical approach the researcher might decide to look beyond the significance and checking the reliability of the presented data, aiming to reconstruct the actual significance of these innovations back in time and their impact on the industries and the market. This line of research would add a verification and possibly a deconstruction of the narratives created by the companies. This research however, did not follow this line, in that it simply relies on the discourse available at hand. What I did in this situation, is I added the frames derived from theory to understand and focus on the dynamics, openness and type of innovation to the stories provided by the companies and field.

However to add some critical shade, I used expert interviews [academics, journalists, designers] to understand the discourse on Italian design, and to progress with sampling.

What Was Gained by the Obstacles?

The above-mentioned obstacles of data validation however, brought about some valuable results. As the perspective shifted from the critical reconstruction of stories of innovation toward the analysis of the stories stemming from narratives of the companies [nested in the discourse], values communicated by the companies could be taken into account and brought in line and analyzed how they relate to innovation. One important theoretic contribution, procedural innovation [see later], was possible to find exactly by understanding what was communicated by the company [Valcucine] on its own innovation and communication strategies. This perspective brings this study closer to relate to the field of company strategies, and branding in this respect.

Traditional Italian firms look back to decades spent in the frame of family capitalism. Today, generations have changed, managers are invited to lead the firm, or descendants, relatives of the founders. During the decades there was also a shift in how design is perceived, and what the roles the designer takes. The classic role of the designer-entrepreneur [designer-imprenditore] is challenged by this constantly restructuring scene. The designer-entrepreneur takes financial, managerial and organizational decisions, has and represents vision on design backed by a thorough knowledge and overview of all aspects and constraints of the firm. For innovating, and keeping/ raising the capacities to innovate firms rely on different strategies:

- open innovation
- acquire external management
- acquisition of other companies: developing an international/ global portfolio
- being brought under an umbrella of other companies

- inviting KIBS firms for innovation and design
- different partnerships with other producing firms [see chapter on open innovation for the borders of the firm revisited, and the detailed analysis of the case studies].

I also pointed out the different roles designers take and its implications on innovation strategies, from the designer-entrepreneur toward portfolio of designers, open innovation, relying on KIBS firms, or design table methodologies. I dedicated a special focus on different forms of open innovation and how they are related to modularization, thus how modularization creates entry points to innovate.

#### The Contribution of This Research

## Main Empirical Findings

This research contributes to innovation and modularity scholarship by shedding light on empirical findings in a less explored field, broadening the scholarship on modularity and [open] innovation beyond the realm of technology-intensive industries [computers, semi-conductors, automotive sector, open source software development, etc].

By exploring architectural innovation [Henderson and Clark 1990] I found that core design concepts that define the direction of technological improvements enter the conceptual frame of innovation:

- What was interpreted as 'values' by the company defining the design are proven to be
  core design concepts in the conceptual frame, as they define here a technological and
  conceptual [stylistic] frame.
- Thus, architecture draws here a semantic and aesthetic frame of conveying meanings. [Not
  just merely defining the technological construction of the artifact described by the
  interaction of the elements].
- Procedural innovation [coined by me]: the effort that evolves around the main objective
  to most efficiently elaborate on the core design concepts in technological, and semantic
  realms.

Further findings of the case studies suggest that open methodology of design and innovation is prone to come from third parties to established firms:

• open design methodology as a communication strategy that contributes to innovation practices of the company, and not as a conscious strategy coming from the other way round.

Here technological and communication tools are intertwined, as they are conveying meanings defined by the core design concepts

• it created a hybrid model of involving incentivized maker communities to channel in their knowledge in digital fabrication.

Moreover, enterprises might face obstacles in innovation, design and even branding, where they turn to third parties, KIBS [knowledge-intensive-business service providers] that might even reshape their organizational routines not just taking over and delivering the required function. Companies might rely on third parties to innovate and design their new products or redesign the organizational routines in order to create fertile environment for innovation. Knowledge-intensive Business Services are rendered in the form of innovation and design. Services are prone to be modularized in their being productivized:

- These schemes create patterns of client co-creation toward co-design
- there is a demand for knowledge on how to innovate [know-how].

These findings invite for a re-examination of firm boundaries from the perspective of the knowledge-based strand of the theory of the firm.

## Linking the Global to Local

As an implication for further research, the problem raises: companies rely on a web of external parties for design and production, answering global needs of the global market. However, locally since the past decades higher education institutions providing a variety of courses in the field created an abundant pool of creatives. The interviews reviled that young designer have difficulties in finding jobs/ work due several reasons: 1) companies work with global portfolios of designers, 2) they have their own defined vision on design and production, 3) hence not open for prototyping the designs and ideas of young designers coming from outside of the company. On the other hand 1) technological advancement, 2) cheap prototyping opportunities, 3) and diverging (local) user needs and (global) production created the field for self-producing, and makers. Designers can individually prototype their artifacts, and even produce small-scale. There is a growing supply of products that can be configured by the individual user online applying the app of the designer, and then have it printed either in a local fablab, or receiving it by mail from the designer/ self-producer. To this field are connected the makers who have different backgrounds, but mainly related to design. They form communities, offline communities co-creating and sharing knowledge in local fables, however connected to global nets of makers, digital fabricators.

A further research outlook would be on one hand to see the connection of creative class, and local creative capital within the globalized production and design in Lombardy. On the other

hand an interesting question to look at is how these pools of knowledge could be connected to the enterprises by creating and strengthening local institutions. Makers have their advantage being connected globally: thus reaching global communities, and access a global pool of knowledge, and yet acting locally through fablabs providing infrastructure for fabrication sharing and collaborating, furthermore valuable connection to third parties. Developing collaboration schemes of local firms that need solutions and fablabs mobilizing maker communities could be a field for local authorities to invigorate, or an opportunity for fablabs to grow.

## Adding to theory

The above-mentioned empirical findings were backed by a concise summary on:

- open/ user/ collaborative innovation scholarship
- links between modularity and innovation
- and understanding the relationship of modular design in the history of design and architecture:

also elaborating the:

- Semantic frame of innovation: where the product is an architecture of meanings
- Framework for understanding stylistic realm of conveying meanings and innovation
- Linking modular design of products as a conceptual approach [aesthetics] and linking it to production from an evolutionary perspective

## Implications of this research on how we understand:

## **Openness**

I systemize the available scholarship on openness covering open innovation, user innovation, collaborative (open) innovation and beyond. First of all, I systemize this scattered field based on the locus of innovation, transaction costs, organizational arrangements, and the outcome of innovation. By this I develop a framework of analysis, that I apply to the cases scrutinized here. Second, as the analyzed cases bring into forth hybrid arrangements and forms of innovation openness, I make my suggestions on understanding these emergent forms.

## **Innovation Scholarship**

The locus of innovation turns out to be the hardest to find. Innovation does not seem to exist in its crystallized form of a mere adjustment and improvement of a product, or shaking the ground with radical solutions stemming from a producer. Neither style and technology exist in

their separate ways: stylistic and technological innovation can complement each other, being intertwined, or substitute each other in a dynamic perspective of firm performance. In the production of such goods, as kitchens for example the push for launching new products creates the need for quick response, where finding and elaborating new technological solutions require far more time, in these cases style gains more focus, while technological design takes its time.

## Organizational Theory

The fieldwork in Italy approved the stance of an enterprise being a node of design concepts and marketing communication, where branding plays a crucial role. We know that the idea behind enterprises of US in the global context in the last decades is to produce brands, not products [Klein 2000]. From an institutionalist perspective the firm is a nexus of contracts with suppliers, distributors, showrooms and a portfolio of designers. What I found is that production, marketing, distribution and even design is done by third parties, where core design concepts [values] are defined by the enterprise. These findings call for a reexamination of the boundaries of the firm: what are the core capabilities and functions. What scholarship calls *producer* for the sake of clarity in theory is as a matter of fact a *brander* thus a coordinator or producer of design concepts in line with the strategy and meaning of the brand. The perspective here shifts on the importance of brands, rather than production.

## References

Arksey, Hilary, Knight, Peter [1999]: Interviewing or Social Scientists. An Introductory Resource with Examples, Sage

Alchian A. A. [1950]: Uncertainty, Evolution, and Economic Theory, *Journal of Political Economy* 59: 211-221.

http://www.jstor.org/stable/1827159

Alchian A. A., Demsetz H. [1972]: Production, Information Costs, and Economic Organization, *The American Economic Review*, 62/5: 777-795 https://www.aeaweb.org/aer/top20/62.5.777-795.pdf

Alexander, Christopher 1964 [1973]: Notes on the Synthesis of Form, Harvard University Press

Anderson, Chris [2006]: [The Long Tail. Why the Future of Business Is Selling Less of More]. La Coda Lunga. Da un mercato di massa a una massa di mercati, trad. Susanna Bourlot, Codice Edizioni, Torino

Arvidsson, Adam [2005]: Brands. A Critical Perspective, *Journal of Consumer Culture*, 5/2: 235-258. doi: 10.1177/1469540505053093

Auricchio, Valentina [2012]: Design in cucina. Oggetti, riti, luoghi, Ottagono, Giunti, Italia.

Baldwin, Carliss Y. and Clark, Kim B. [2000]: *The Power of Modularity. Design Rules, Part I.*, MIT Press

Baldwin, Carliss Y. [2007]: Where Do Transactions Come From? Modularity, Transactions and the Boundaries of Firms, *Industrial and Corporate Change*, 17/1: 155-195 doi:10.1093/icc/dtm036

Baldwin, Carliss Y. and Clark, Kim B. [1997]: Managing in the Age of Modularity, *Harvard Business Review* 

Baldwin, Carliss Y., Clark, Kim B. [2006]: The Architecture of Participation. Does Code Architecture Mitigate Free Riding in the Open Source Development Model?, *Management Science*, 52/7: 1116-1127 http://dx.doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.1060.0546

Baldwin, Carliss Y., von Hippel, Eric [2011]: Modeling a Paradigm Shift. From Producer Innovation to User and Open Collaborative Innovation, *Organization Science*, 22/6,

1399-1417 http://dx.doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1100.0618

Baldwin, Carliss Y, Woodard, Jason C. [2009]: The Architecture of Platforms. A Unified View, in: Gawer, Annabelle ed. *Platforms, Markets and Innovation*, Edward Elgar Publishing Ltd, 19-44

Barge-Gil, Andres [2010]: Open, Semi-Open and Closed Innovators. Towards an Explanation of Degree of Openness, *Industry and Innovation*, 17/6: 577-607 /doi/abs/10.1080/13662716.2010.530839

Bergamasco, Porzia, Croci, Valentina [2010]: *Design in Italia. L'esperienza del quotidiano*, a cura di Aldo Colonetti, Giunti, Bologna

Bersano ed. [2009]: *Tendenze. Progetto. Prodotto. Una ricerca sulla filiera del 'furniture design'*, a cura di Giorgio Bersano, Editrice Compositori, Bologna 2009.

Bertoli, Paola, Maffei, Stefano [a cura di/ed.] [2009]: Design Research Maps. Prospettive della ricerca universitaria in design in Italia [Design Research Maps. Perspectives of University Research in Design in Italy], Maggioli Editore

Bianchini, Massimo, Maffei, Stefano [2013]: Self-Made Design From Industrial Toward Industrious Design,

Ottagono,

257:

2-10

https://www.academia.edu/3793255/AUTOPRODUZIONE\_DALL\_INDUSTRIAL\_DESIGN\_ALL\_INDUSTRIOUS DESIGN

Bosoni, Giampiero [ed.] [2002]: *La cultura dell'abitare. Il design in Italia* [The Culture of Living. Design in Italy] 1945-2001, Skira, Milano

Bosoni Giampiero [2002]: Tipo e contratipo dello "stile" italiano. Tradizione e innovazione nel disegno industrial per lo spazio domestic [Tipical and atypical 'stile italiano'. Tradition and

Innovation in industrial design for domestics, in: Bosoni ed. 2002. *La cultura dell'abitare. Il design in Italia* [The Culture of Living. Design in Italy] 1945-2001, Skira, Milano, pp. 12-22

Brusoni, S. [2001]: Managing Knowledge in Loosely Coupled Networks: Exploring the Links between Product and Knowledge Dynamics, *Journal of Management Studies*, 38/7: 1019-1035 DOI: 10.1111/1467-6486.00270

Brusoni, Stefano and Prencipe, Andrea [2006]: Making Design Rules in a Multidomain Perspective, *Organization Science*, 17/2: 179-189 http://dx.doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1060.0180

Brusoni, Stefano, Prencipe, Andrea, Pavitt, Keith [2001]: Knowledge Specialization, Organizational Coupling, and the Boundaries of the Firm: Why Do Firms Know More Than They Make?, Administrative Science Quarterly, 46/4: 597-621 DOI: 10.2307/3094825

Casciani, Stefano [2014]: Origins of Italian Design IV. [Alle origini del design italiano IV]. Adriano Olivetti: Industry as a Total Work of Art [Adriano Olivetti: Industria come opera d'arte totale], *Disegno* 3: 76-82.

Caves, Richard E. [2000]: Contracts Between Art and Commerce, *Harvard University Press*, retrieved from google books

Chesbrough, Henry [2006]: Open Innovation. A New Paradigm for Understanding Industrial Innovation, in: *Open Innovation. Researching a New Paradigm*, ed. Chesbrough H., Vanhaverbeke Wim, West, Joel, Oxford University Press

Chesbrough, Henry [2011]: Open Services Innovation. Rethinking Your Business to Grow and Compete in a New Era, Jossey-Bass

Chesbrough, Henry, Crowther, Adrienne Kardon [2006]: Beyond High-Tech. Early Adopters of Open Innovation in Other Industries, *R&D Management*, 36/3: 229-236 DOI: 10.1111/j.1467-9310.2006.00428.x

Chiaroni, D., Chiesa, V., Frattini F. [2011]: The Open Innovation Journey. How Firms Dynamically Implement the Emerging Innovation Management Paradigm, *Technovation* 31: 34-43, doi:10.1016/j.technovation.2009.08.007

Coase, Ronald [1937]: The Nature of the Firm, *Economica*, New Series, 4/16: 386-405 DOI: 10.2307/2626876

Cohen, Wesley M., Levinthal, Daniel A. [1990]: Absorptive Capacity. A New Perspective on Learning and Innovation, *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 35/1: 128-152 DOI: 10.2307/2393553

Cohen, Wesley M., Levinthal, Daniel A. [1990]: Absorptive Capacity. A New Perspective on Learning and Innovation, *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 35/1: 128-152. Retrived 04/05/2012 from DOI: 10.2307/2393553

Cohen WM, Levinthal D [1989]: Innovation and learning: the two faces of R&D. Economic Journal 99/397: 569–596 DOI: 10.2307/2233763

Commons, John R. [1934]: Institutional Economics, University of Wisconsin Press: Madison, WI.

Colfer, L., C. Baldwin [2010]: The Mirroring Hypothesis: Theory, Evidence and Exceptions. *Working Paper 10-058*, Harvard Business School, Boston.

Dahlander, Linus, Fredriksen, Lars, Rullani, Francesco [2008]: Online Communities and Open Innovation, *Industry and Innovation*, 15/2: 115-123 DOI: 10.1080/13662710801970076

Dahlander, Linus, Gann, David M. [2010]: How Open is Innovation, *Research Policy*, 39: 699-709 doi:10.1016/j.respol.2010.01.013

Dell'Era, Claudio [2010]: Art for Business. Creating Competitive Advantage through Cultural Projects. *Industry and Innovation*, 17/1: 71-89 DOI:10.1080/13662710903573844

Dell'Era, Claudio, Verganti, Roberto [2010]: Collaborative Strategies in Design-Intensive Industries. Knowledge Diversity and Innovation, *Long Range Planning*, 43: 123-141. DOI: 10.1016/j.lrp.2009.10.006

Dell'Era, Claudio, Verganti, Roberto [2008]: Design-driven laboratories: organization and strategy of laboratories specialized in the development of radical design-driven innovations, *R&D Management*, 39/1: 1-20 DOI: 10.1111/j.1467-9310.2008.00541.x

deMassis, Alfredo, Frattini, Federico, Lichtenhaler Ulrich [2012]: Research on Technological Innovation in Family Firms. Present Debates and Future Directions. *Family Business Review*, 26/1:10-31 DOI: 10.1177/0894486512466258

du Chatenier, Elise, Verstegen, Jos A.A.M, Biemans, Harm J.A., Mulder, Martin, Omta Onno [2009]: The Challenges of Collaborative Knowledge Creation in Open Innovation Teams, *Human Resource Development Review*. 8/3: 350-381. doi: 10.1177/1534484309338265

Eisenhardt, Kathleen M. [1989]: Building Theories From Case Study Research, *Academy of Management Review*, 14/4: 532-550. doi: 10.5465/AMR.1989.4308385

Faludi Julianna [2014]: Fifty Shades of Innovation. From Open Toward User and Open Collaborative Forms of Innovation. An Overview, *Budapest Management Review*, 45/11: 33-43 http://unipub.lib.unicorvinus.hu/1739/1/vt 2014n11p33.pdf

Franke, Nicolaus, Shah Sonali [2003]: How Communities Support Innovative Activities. An Exploration of Assistance and Sharing Among End Users, *Research Policy*, 32: 157-178 SSRN: http://ssrn.com/abstract=789824

Frigant, Vincant, Layan, Jean-Bernard [2009]: Modular Production and the New Division of Labour Within Europe: The Perspective of French Automotive Parts Suppliers, *European Urban and Regional Studies*, 16/1: 11–25, DOI: 10.1177/0969776408098930

de Fusco, Renato [1993]: *Storia dell'arredamento* [The History of Furniture], Unione Tipografico-Editrice Torinese, Torino

Füller, Johann, Scholl, Roland, von Hippel, Eric [2013]: User Generated Brands and Their Contribution to the Diffusion of User Innovations, *Research Policy*, 42: 1197-1209. http://www.uibk.ac.at/orgsoc/research/fld\_pub.html

Garud, R., Kumaraswamy, A. and Langlois, R.N. [eds] [2003]: *Managing in the Modular Age. Architectures, Networks and Organizations* [Oxford: Blackwell]

Gassmann, Oliver, Enkel, Ellen, Chesbrough, Henry [2009]: Open R&D and Open Innovation. Exploring the Phenomenon, *R&D Management*, 39/4: 311-316 DOI: 10.1111/j.1467-9310.2009.00570.x

Gassmann, Oliver, Enkel, Ellen, Chesbrough, Henry [2010]: The Future of Open Innovation, *R&D Management*, 40/3: 213-220 DOI: 10.1111/j.1467-9310.2010.00605.x

Gawer, Annabelle ed. [2009]: Platforms, Markets and Innovation, Edward Elgar Publishing Ltd

Gawer, Annabelle, Cusumano, Michael A. [2008]: How Companies Become Platform Leaders, *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 49/2: 28-35 http://sloanreview.mit.edu/article/how-companies-become-platform-leaders/

Gawer, Annabelle, Henderson, Rebecca [2007]: Platform Owner Entry and Innovation in Complementary Markets. Evidence from Intel, *Journal of Economics and Management Strategy*, 16/1: 1-34. DOI: 10.1111/j.1530-9134.2007.00130.x

Gemser, Gerda, Wijnberg, Nachoem M. [2002]: The Economic Significance of Industrial Design Awards. A Conceptual Framework, *Design Management Journal, An Academic Review*, 2/1: 61-71 DOI: 10.1111/j.1948-7177.2002.tb00012.x

Grabher, Gernot [2004]: Learning in Projects? Remembering in Networks. *European Urban and Regional Studies*, 11/2: 103-123 doi: 10.1177/0969776404041417

Grossman, Sanford J. and Hart, Oliver [1986]: The costs and benefits of ownership: A theory of vertical and lateral integration, *Journal of Political Economy* 94/4: 691-719. doi:10.1086/261404

Hart, Oliver and Moore, John [1990]: Property rights and the nature of the firm. *Journal of Political Economy* 98/6: 1119-1158 doi:10.1086/261729

Hagiu, Andrei, Wright Julian [2011]: Multi-Sided Platforms, Harward Business School, *Working Paper* 12-024. http://www.hbs.edu/faculty/Pages/download.aspx?name=12-024.pdf

Hall, Bronwyn H., Lotti, Francesca, Mairesse, Jacques [2009]: Innovation and Productivity in SMEs. Empirical Evidence for Italy. *Small Business Economics*, 33: 13-33. DOI: 10.3386/w14594

Harison, Elad, Koski, Heli [2010]: Applying Open Innovation in Business Strategies. Evidence from Finnish Software Firms. *Research Policy*, 39: 351-359 doi:10.1016/j.respol.2010.01.008

Hauge, Atle, Hracs, Brian J. [2010]: See the Sound, Hear the Style. Collaborative Linkages Between Indie Musicians and Fashion Designers in Local Scenes, *Industry and Innovation*, 17/1: 113-129. DOI: 10.1080/13662710903573893

Henderson, Rebecca M. and Clark, Kim B. [1990]: Architectural Innovation: The Reconfiguration of Existing Product Technologies and the Failure of Established Firms, *Administrative Science Quarterly, Special Issue: Technology, Organizations, and Innovation*, 35/1: 9-30 [[publication/102f1126de010d37580f2205d4976cad1/jrennstich]]

Herstatt, Cornelius and von Hippel, Eric [1992]: Developing New Product Concepts Via the Lead User Method. A Case Study in a "Low Tech" Field", Working Paper, publ. *Journal of Product Innovation Management* 1992/9: 213-221 DOI: 10.1111/1540-5885.930213

Hirsch, M. Paul 1992[1977]: *Processing Fads and Fashions: An Organization-set Analysis of Cultural Industry Systems*, in Granovetter, Swedberg ed. The Sociology of Economic Life, pp. 363-378

Mañá, Jordi [1973]: *Il Disegno Industriale*, testo di Jordi, intervista di Ettore Sottsass, direttori Achille Boroli, Adolfo Boroli, Instituto Geografico de Agostini, Novara.

IN IT: Antonelli, Paola [2002]: L'Italian design tra globalismo e affetivita [Italian Design Between Globalization and Affectivity], in: Bosoni, Giampiero [ed.] 2002. La cultura dell'abitare. Il design in Italia [The Culture of Living. Design in Italy] 1945-2001, Skira, Milano p. 22-38

King, N. [1994]: The Qualitative Research Interview, In: C. Cassell & Symon [eds.] Qualitative methods in organizational research, London: Sage. P. 14-25, 33-35.

Klein, Naomi 2000 [2002, 2009]: No Logo. Taking Aim at the Brand Bullies, Picador, Kindle edition [2015].

Koening, Giovanni, Klaus [1981]: *Stile Industria. Alberto Rosselli*, [saggio introduttive, Koenig Giovanni Kalus, Catalogo di Amalia Fracassi, Simona Riva], Universita di Parma, Centro Studi e Archivio della Comunicazione, Dipartimento Progetto, Quaderni 50.

Lange B., Kalandides A., Stöber B., Mieg H.A. [2008]: Berlin's Creative Industries. Governing Creativity?, *Industry and Innovation*, 15/5: 531-548 DOI: 10.1080/13662710802373981

Langlois, Richard N., Garzarelli, Giampaolo [2008]: Of Hackers and Hairdressers. Modularity and the Organizational Economics of Open Source Collaboration, *Industry and Innovation*, 15:2, 125-143 DOI: 10.1080/13662710801954559

Langlois, Richard N., Robertson, Paul [1992]: Networks and Innovation in a Modular System. Lessons from the Microcomputer and Stereo Component Industries, *Research Policy*, 21 [1992] 297-313 doi:10.1016/0048-7333(92)90030-8

Langlois, Richard N. [2007]: Organizing the Electronic Century, University of Connecticut, Working Paper 2007-7, indexed on RePEc, http://repec.org/

Lee, Gwendolyn K, Cole, Robert E. [2003]: From a Firm Based Toward a Community Based Model of Knowledge Creation. The Case of the Linux Kernel Development, *version* retrieved: <a href="http://www.stillhq.com/pdfdb/000501/data.pdf">http://www.stillhq.com/pdfdb/000501/data.pdf</a> on 29 Jan. 2014. Published in *Organization Science*, 14/6: 633-649 http://dx.doi.org/10.1287/orsc.14.6.633.24866

Lejonhufvud, Axel [1986]: Capitalism and the Factory System, in: R. N. Langlois, ed., *Economics as a Process: Essays in the New Institutional Economics*, New York: Cambridge University Press, 1986, pp. 203-223

Luthje, Christian, Herstatt, Cornelius, von Hippel Eric [2002]: The Dominant Role of Local Information in User Innovation. The Case of Mountainbiking, *Working Paper 4377-02* http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=322800

Maffei, Stefano [2014]: Artisans Today. Understanding Contemporary Innovative Processes Between Design, New Forms of Creativity and Design, in Addition to the Development Production Models, *Design e Artigianato per il Trentino [DEA]* 

Malossi, Giannino [2009]: Phenomenology of the Fuori Salone, *Lotus International*, Vol. 137, Marzo 2009. *Last revision* 13/09/2014

Malossi, Giannino [ed.] [1999]: *Volare. L'icona italiana nella cultura globale* [Volare. The Icon of Italy in the Global Pop Culture], edizioni Bolis, Pitti Immagine Fashion Engineering Unit

Mañá Jordi [1973]: *Il Disegno Industriale*, [testo di J.M.] , intervista di Ettore Sottsass, direttori Achille Boroli, Adolfo Boroli, Instituto Geografico de Agostini, Novara

Marengo, Luigi, Dosi, Giovanni [2005]: Division of Labor, Organizational Coordination and Market Mechanisms in Collective Problem-Solving, *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, vol. 58: 303-326. doi:10.1016/j.jebo.2004.03.020

Martignoni [2010]: "La piu amata dagli italiani" Scavolini 1961-2011. 50 anni di cucine, a cura di Massimo Martignoni, Skira Editore Milano, 2010 Scavolini Spa, Pesaro

Méndez-Durón, Rebeca and García, Clara E. [2009]: Returns from Social Capital in Open Source Software Network, *Journal of Evolutionary Economics*, 19: 277-295 http://ssrn.com/abstract=1435213

Miozzo, Marcella, Grimshaw, Damian [2005]: Modularity and Innovation in the Knowledge-Intensive Business Services. IT Outsourcing in Germany and the UK, *Research Policy*, 34: 1419-1439.

Moraga E. 2006. *Cultural Learning Organizations*. *A Management and Organizational Model*, Retrieved: http://culturallearningorganizations.net/index\_files/Page295.htm 19/08/2011

Morrison, Pamela D., Roberts, John H., and Midgley, David F. [2004]: The Nature of Lead Users and Measurement of Leading Edge Status, *Research Policy*, 33: 351-362

Nelson R. R., Winter S. G., [1982]/1994: An Evolutionary Theory of Economic Change, The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press, Fifth Printing

Oliviera, Pedro and von Hippel, Eric [2010]: Users as Service Innovator. The Case of Banking Services, MIT Sloan School of Management Working Paper Nr- 4748-09.

Padilla-Melendez Antonio, Del Aguila-Obra, Ana R., Lockett Nigel [2012]: Shifting Sands. Regional Perspectives on the Role of Social Capital in Supporting Open Innovation through Knowledge

Transfer and Exchange with Small and Medium-sized Enterprizes, *International Small Business Journal*, 31/3: 296-318 doi: 10.1177/0266242612467659

Parnas, D. L. [1972]: On the criteria to be used in decomposing systems into modules, *Communications of the ACM*, Vol. 15, No. 12, pp. 1053–1058. DOI 10.1145/361598.361623

Pavitt, K. [1984]: Sectoral patterns of technical change: Towards a taxonomy and a theory. *Research Policy* 13[6] 343–373. DOI: 10.1016/0048-7333(84)90018-0

Pisano, Gary P. Verganti, Roberto [2008]: Which Kind of Collaboration is Right For You?, *Harward Business Review*, 86/12: 78-86.

Porzia Bergamasco, Valentina Croci [2010]: *Design in Italia. L'esperienza del quotidiano*, a cura di Aldo Colonetti, Giunti, Bologna

Power, Nigel [2002]: Conversations on Interaction. Exploring the Interplay Between Theory, Practice, Research and Practice in Design Education, International Design Conference, Design 2002, Dubrovnik, May 14 - 17, 2002.

Ritchie, J. – Lewis, J. [2010]: *Qualitative Research Practice*. London: Sage, Chapter 1: The Foundations of Qualitative Research, p. 1-23.

Roper, Stephen, Hewitt-Dundas Nola [2012]: Catalysing Open Innovation through Publicly-funded R&D. A Comparison of University and Company-based Research Centers, *International Small Business Journal*, 31/3: 275-295 DOI:10.1177/0266242612454671

Ritala, Paavo, Hyötyla, Maarit, Blomqvist, Kirsimarja, Kosonen, Miia [2013]: Key Capabilities in Knowledge-Intensive Service Business, *The Service Industries Journal*, 33/5: 486-500 **DOI:** 10.1080/02642069.2011.623774

Schumpeter, Joseph A., 1934 [1961]: *The Theory of Economic Development*, New York, Oxford University Press

Schumpeter, Joseph A. [1950]: Capitalism, Socialism, Democracy, Harper Brothers, New York

Sedita, Silvia R. [2008]: Interpersonal and Inter-Organizational Networks in the Performing Arts. The Case of Project-Based Organizations in the Live Music Industry, *Industry and Innovation*, 15/5: 493-511 doi/abs/10.1080/13662710802373833

Siggelkow, Nicolaj [2007]: "Persuasion with case studies", *Academy of Management Journal*, 50/1: 20-24

Stake, Robert E. [2003]: "Case Studies", in Norman K. Denzin, Yvonna S. Lincoln ed: *Strategies of Qualitative Inquiry*, Sage Publications, US, 2nd ed., 134-164

Simard, Caroline, West, Joel [2006]: Knowledge Networks and the Geographic Locus of Innovation, in: *Open Innovation. Researching a New paradigm*, ed. H. Chesbrough, W. Vanhaverbeke, J. West, Oxford University, Press

Simon, Herbert A. [1962]: The Architecture of Complexity, *Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society*, 106/6: 467-482

Smith-Doerr, Laurel [2010]: Flexible Organizations, Innovation, and Gender Equality. Writing for the US Film Industry, 1907-27. *Industry and Innovation*, 17/1: 5-22 DOI: 10.1080/13662710903573810

Staber U. [2008]: Network Evolution in Cultural Industries, *Industry and Innovation*, 15/5: 569-578 DOI: 10.1080/13662710802374229

Teece, D. J. [1986]: Profiting From Technological Innovation, *Research Policy*, 15/6: 285-305 doi:10.1016/0048-7333(86)90027-2

Theyel, Nelli [2012]: Extending Open Innovation Throughout the Value Chain by Small and Medium Sized Manufacturers, *International Small Business Journal*, 31/3: 256-274. doi: 10.1177/0266242612458517

Tietz, Robert, Morrison, Pamela D., Luthje, Christian, Herstatt, Cornelius [2005]: The Process of User Innovation. A case study in a consumer goods setting. *International Journal of Product Development*, 2/4: 321-338 DOI: 10.1504/IJPD.2005.008005

The Sage Handbook of Interview Research. The Complexity of the Craft, ed. Gubrium J.F, Holstein, J.A., Marvasti, A.B, McKinney, K.D. [2012]:

Yin, Robert K. [2003]: Case Study Research. Design and Methods, Third ed. Applied Social research Methods Series Vol.5, Sage Publications

Ulrich, K. [1995]: The role of product architecture in the manufacturing firm, *Research Policy* 24/3: 419–440. DOI: 10.1016/0048-7333(94)00775-3

Van de Vrande, Vareska, de Jong, Jeroen P.G., Vanhaverbeke, Wim, de Rochemont, Maurice [2009]: Open Innovation in SMEs. Trends, Motives and Management Challenges, *Technovation*, 29: 423-437 doi:10.1016/j.technovation.2008.10.001

von Hippel, Eric [1976]: The Dominant Role of Users in the Scientific Instrument Innovation Process, *Research Policy* 5: 212-239 doi: 10.1016/0048-7333(76) 90028-7

von Hippel, Eric [1988]: The Sources of Innovation, Oxford University Press, New York

von Hippel, Eric [2005]: Democritizing Innovation, The MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts

Wynarczyk Pooran, Piperopoulos, Panagiotis, McAdam, Maura [2013]: Open innovation in small and medium-sized enterprises: An overview. *International Small Business Journal*, 31/3: 240-255 doi:10.1177/0266242612472214

Williamson, O. E. [1985]: The Economic Institutions of Capitalism, Free Press: New York, NY.

## **Own Publications on Innovation**

Faludi Julianna [2015]: Open Innovation Patterns in the Performing Arts, *Corvinus Journal of Sociology and Social Policy*, 61/1: 47-70

Faludi Julianna [2014]: Fifty Shades of Innovation. From Open Toward User and Open Collaborative Forms of Innovation. An Overview, *Budapest Management Review*, 45/11: 33-43 <a href="http://unipub.lib.unicorvinus.hu/1739/1/vt">http://unipub.lib.unicorvinus.hu/1739/1/vt</a> 2014n11p33.pdf

## Under Review:

Faludi, Julianna 2015. Showroom Turned Fablab. Kitchen Becomes Open in Brera, *Under review at Industry and Innovation*.

#### Book review

Faludi Julianna, 2013. Intellectual Public Goods in the digitalized science: Knowledge for Access. A book Review on Peter Suber: Open Access (in Hungarian). Intellektuális közjószág a digitalizált tudományban, avagy a tudás azé, aki hozzáfér, *Educatio*, XXII/ 3, 435-38